Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 6/1/2021 by Florentino Jimenez, Deputy Clerk

No. S266034

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### LISA NIEDERMEIER,

#### Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

#### FCA US LLC,

#### Defendant and Appellant.

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division One Civil No. B293960 Appeal from Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BC638010 Honorable Daniel Murphy

#### PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### KNIGHT LAW GROUP LLP

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Does the Song Beverly Act's statutorily defined restitution remedy include an unstated, unenumerated offset for a trade-in credit?

2. If the amount that a consumer has received in a trade-in transaction must be subtracted from the consumer's recovery, should that amount be taken from the Act's statutorily defined restitution remedy or should it instead be subtracted from the consumer's total recovery—that is, so that the calculation of civil penalties (and the policy underlying them), remains unaffected?

#### INTRODUCTION

The Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act (Act), Civil Code section 1790 et seq., obligates car manufacturers to promptly buy back defective new cars and brand them as lemons after multiple repair attempts have failed.<sup>1</sup>

Manufacturers who fail to buy back or repair lemon vehicles promptly are required to "make restitution in an amount equal to the actual price paid or payable by the buyer," less certain offsets *not* including the lemon's trade-in value. (§ 1793.2, subd. (d)(2).) In addition, if the buyer establishes that the manufacturer's "failure to comply was *willful*," the judgment may include "a civil penalty which shall not exceed two times the amount of actual damages." (§ 1794, subd. (c), italics added.)

Here, respondent FCA US, LLC ("Chrysler") violated the Act by refusing to buy back petitioner Lisa Niedermeier's lemon despite *sixteen* failed repair attempts and *three* buy-back requests. Chrysler's refusal forced Niedermeier to take matters into her own hands. She sued Chrysler and, during the course of her two-year lawsuit, traded in her dangerous lemon in order to purchase a safe, reliable vehicle. The dealer that sold her the new car gave her a \$19,000 trade-in credit for the lemon.

A jury found that Chrysler *willfully* violated its statutory obligations to promptly buy back her vehicle, awarding a civil

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Civil Code unless indicated.

penalty for that willful misconduct in addition to statutory restitution remedies and compensatory damages.

In the wake of the verdict, Chrysler sought an offset for the amount of the trade-in credit for Niedermeier's lemon, even though the Act's plain language does not permit one. The trial court rejected Chrysler's improper request, but the Court of Appeal construed the Act as requiring an unstated trade-in offset that no other court has recognized.

Not only did this ruling reward Chrysler for its willful violations of the Act, but the Court of Appeal compounded the benefit to Chrysler by applying the offset to reduce the base amount for calculating the civil penalty—thereby giving Chrysler a multiplied offset, instead of applying the offset to the petitioner's total recovery *after* calculating the penalty.

This was error.

The Court of Appeal's decision is directly contrary to the Act's plain language, which unambiguously does not allow *any* offset for a trade-credit. That alone is reason enough to reverse.

But beyond that, the court's ruling flies in the face of the Act's principal *raison d'etre*: to protect buyers and the public from dangerous vehicles by requiring manufacturers to *promptly* repair or repurchase lemons. Letting manufacturers deduct a trade-in credit from a buyer's damages actually *encourages* manufacturers to refuse to buy back the vehicle. This leaves consumers with no other option but to sue, thereby increasing the likelihood that the buyer will trade in her lemon to get a safe

car—and thereby rewarding violators like Chrysler for their willful refusals to buy back lemons. This turns the statutory scheme on its head.

The court's decision was based on its theory that disallowing a trade-in offset would incentivize buyers to trade in their lemons, thereby granting buyers a windfall and potentially putting more un-branded lemons on the road. That rationale gets things exactly backwards. In reality, allowing a trade-in offset would *increase* the odds that lemons will be reintroduced into the marketplace without proper branding, thereby directly undermining the Act's branding regime, which places the lemonbranding requirement squarely on the manufacturers.

The Legislature decided that the best way to keep lemons off the road is to require *manufacturers* to *promptly* buy them back *in the first place*, and then brand them as lemons before any re-sale. A trade-in offset would vitiate that goal, promote delay, and violate the Act's plain language to boot.

If the Court disagrees, however, and holds that the Act permits a trade-in offset despite its plain language, then the Court should minimize the detriment to consumers by disallowing the offset to manufacturers like Chrysler who *willfully* violate the Act, thus limiting the offset to manufacturers who act in good faith. Doing so would reduce the perverse incentives for bad actors like Chrysler to violate the Act by ensuring that willful violators feel the full impact of the Act's civil penalty provision, which is designed to punish willful

violators by imposing an additional penalty of up to two times actual damages. Indeed, deducting the trade-in offset from actual damages *before* they are doubled for willful violators would reward exactly those violators the Legislature singled out for punishment—an obviously impermissible result.

At the very least, the Court should make clear that any trade-in offset may only be deducted *after* the jury calculates the civil penalty for willful misconduct. Any other approach would afford willful wrongdoers as much as a *triple* offset for a trade-in credit, thereby further incentivizing manufacturers to breach their affirmative obligation to promptly buy back lemons—and further undermining the Act's core purpose of protecting consumers and the public from dangerous lemons and punishing willful violators of the Act. At a minimum, this Court should reject that aberrant result.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statutory Background.

The Legislature adopted the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act (the "Act") in 1970 to address rampant problems with enforcing consumer warranties for new products. (See 1MJN/1–2MJN/588 [legislative history materials].)<sup>2</sup> The Act "is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Concurrently with this brief, Petitioner has filed a Motion for Judicial Notice (MJN) requesting judicial notice of nine volumes of legislative history materials for the Act and relevant

strongly pro-consumer." (Murillo v. Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc. (1998) 17 Cal.4th 985, 990 (Murillo).)

Because existing remedies did not sufficiently protect consumers when manufacturers refused to comply with their warranties, the Legislature provided (in former Civil Code section 1793.2) that when a manufacturer cannot repair a defective new product, it "*shall* either replace the goods or reimburse the buyer in an amount equal to the purchase price paid by the buyer, less that amount directly attributable to use by the buyer prior to discovery of the defect." (See 1MJN/30, italics added.) The Legislature later added that these obligations arose "after a reasonable number" of unsuccessful repair attempts. (3MJN/590-591.)

As it turns out, however, section 1793.2's open-ended language—including the statute's failure to specify when or how replacement or reimbursement should occur; how to calculate the "purchase price"; how to determine the "use" offset; and what constitutes a "reasonable number" of repair attempts—failed adequately to protect buyers of new motor vehicles. By the early 1980's, "[r]efunds and replacements of new cars [we]re rare," because car manufacturers demanded "endless opportunities to correct defects" in the vehicle and "never admit[ted], perhaps because of the cost of the vehicle" that they had a duty "to replace

amendments, plus a state agency opinion letter. This brief cites this material as "[volume]MJN/[page]."

it or reimburse the consumer." (See 3MJN/615-618, 637, 646-647, 745, 751, 754, 784.)

The Legislature responded in 1982 by enacting amendments known as "the lemon law," in an "effort to provide more meaningful protection for new car buyers" who were stuck with lemons—that is, new cars that "don't work and can't be fixed within a reasonable time." (3MJN/759, 790-791; 4MJN/922; see *Jensen v. BMW of North America, Inc.* (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 112, 123.) The lemon law created a presumption that a "reasonable" number of repair attempts is four, or 30 cumulative days out of service, during a specific period, and added provisions for thirdparty dispute resolution. (3MJN/610-611.)<sup>3</sup>

Over the next five years, however, vehicle manufacturers continued to take advantage of section 1793.2's ambiguities by, for example, refusing to provide adequate refund amounts, saddling buyers with excessive charges, and imposing excessive offsets for buyers' use of their cars while waiting for manufacturers to provide them relief. (4MJN/997; 5MJN/1400-1402 [Department of Justice bill analysis: "[t]he existing lemon law . . . has not worked well"].)

The Legislature responded in 1987 by completely revamping section 1793.2 to specify detailed, comprehensive replacement/reimbursement provisions *just for lemon vehicles* the provisions at issue in this appeal. (3MJN/828-8MJN/2179; see also 4MJN/1137 ["This bill will invigorate the existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Today, section 1793.22 contains the operative presumptions.

automobile 'lemon' law which has not provided an adequate remedy to buyers of defective new cars"].)

The purpose of the 1987 amendments was "to improve protections for vehicle purchasers under the existing lemon law"; to "eliminate inequities" to buyers; to promote the "fair" and "speedy" resolution of buyer complaints; to "*give adequate direction on the refunds* that consumers should be given when they are sold automobiles so defective that they cannot be repaired after a reasonable number of attempts"; and to establish "a *reasonable method* for fairly compensating 'lemon' car owners." (4MJN/924, 996-997, 1104-1105; 5MJN/1429, italics added.)

Thus, the Legislature "revise[d] the provisions relating to warranties on new motor vehicles to require the manufacturer or its representative to replace the vehicle or make restitution, *as specified*," and went to great lengths to "[s]pecify *what would be included* in the replacement and refund option." (4MJN/894, 996, 998; 8MJN/2179, italics added.) The Legislature did so by splitting section 1793.2, subdivision (d), into two subdivisions:

- Subdivision (d)(1) covers all products other than new motor vehicles and merely repeats the Act's original open-ended language about replacing goods or reimbursing buyers. (See § 1793.2, subd. (d)(1); 3MJN/833; 4MJN/910.)
- Subdivision (d)(2) (hereinafter, "section 1793.2(d)(2)") covers manufacturers of new motor vehicles only, and subjects them to comprehensive, specific, formulaic

replacement/reimbursement requirements. (See § 1793.2(d)(2); 3MJN/833; 4MJN/894, 910-913.)

The new subdivision (d)(2) for lemon vehicles, which remains in place today, made the following pro-consumer changes:

• The prompt replacement/restitution standard. If the manufacturer is unable to repair the vehicle to conform to the warranty "after a reasonable number of attempts," the manufacturer "shall either promptly replace the new motor vehicle in accordance with subparagraph (A) or promptly make restitution to the buyer in accordance with subparagraph (B)." (§ 1793.2(d)(2), italics added; 4MJN/910.)

• The statutory restitution standard. Instead of the prior, vague requirements to "reimburse the buyer in an amount equal to the purchase price," the Act now specifies (in subparagraph (B)) that "the manufacturer shall make restitution in an amount equal to the actual price paid or payable by the buyer, including any charges for transportation and manufacturer-installed options, but excluding nonmanufacturer items installed by a dealer or the buyer, and including any collateral charges such as sales or use tax, license fees, registration fees, and other official fees . . . ." (§ 1793.2(d)(2)(B); see 4MJN/911 [the 1987 version said "sales tax" but was later changed to "sales or use tax"].) The restitution standard further provides that the buyer can recover "any incidental damages to which the buyer is entitled under Section 1794, including, but not

limited to, reasonable repair, towing, and rental car costs actually incurred by the buyer." (*Ibid.*; see 4MJN/910-911.)

The mileage-based offset for pre-repair use. Instead of the prior, vague requirement for an offset "directly attributable to use by the buyer prior to discovery of the defect" (1MJN/30), the Legislature added a specific "formula" (5MJN/1401-1402): "When restitution is made pursuant to subparagraph (B), the amount to be paid by the manufacturer to the buyer may be reduced by the manufacturer by that amount directly attributable to use by the buyer prior to the time the buyer first delivered the vehicle to the manufacturer or distributor, or its authorized service and repair facility for correction of the problem that gave rise to the nonconformity"; and that amount must be determined by using a specific mathematical mileage-based formula (the "pre-repair offset") that divides the vehicle mileage at the first repair by 120,000 and multiplies that result by the price of the vehicle. (§ 1793.2(d)(2)(C), italics added; 4MJN/911.)

• Manufacturers cannot compel replacement. Recognizing that buyers might not want the same car model after being stuck with a lemon, the Legislature specified that buyers are "free to elect restitution in lieu of replacement." (§ 1793.2(d)(2); 4MJN/998; 5MJN/1400-1402.) The Legislature did not require buyers to return vehicles to the manufacturer to obtain relief. (See § 1793.2(d)(2); Martinez v. Kia Motors America, Inc. (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 187, 194 (Martinez).) • No other offsets. The Legislature did not provide manufacturers with any offset for the vehicle's value if the vehicle was traded in, or if it was repossessed by a lienholder, or if the vehicle was totaled in an accident and insurance proceeds were received. Nor did the Legislature provide for any other offset or deduction other than the pre-repair offset and the deduction for nonmanufacturer items. (See § 1793.2(d)(2); *Jiagbogu v. Mercedes-Benz USA* (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1235, 1243 (*Jiagbogu*).) The pre-repair offset provision makes clear that the offset is of limited scope: "Nothing in this paragraph shall in any way limit the rights or remedies available to *the buyer* under any other law." (§ 1793.2(d)(2)(C), italics added.) Moreover, for the benefit of consumers the Act's provisions "are *cumulative* and shall not be construed as restricting any remedy that is otherwise available." (§ 1790.4, italics added.)

In addition to the new pro-consumer provisions in section 1793.2(d)(2) for lemon vehicles, the 1987 amendments and this appeal also involve the following statutes:

• Section 1794's general damages provision. The sweeping 1987 amendments to section 1793.2(d) necessitated changing section 1794, the Act's general damages provision for all products. At the time, that provision stated that the measure of a buyer's damages depended on certain Commercial Code provisions. (See 3MJN/846.) Given the new comprehensive statutory replacement/restitution standard for lemon vehicles, the Legislature changed section 1794 to state that the "measure of the buyer's damages" under the Act "shall include *the rights of* 

replacement or reimbursement as set forth in subdivision (d) of Section 1793.2, and the following," and then listed the Commercial Code provisions as subparagraphs. (§ 1794, subd. (b), italics added; 4MJN/901, 914.)<sup>4</sup>

• The branding/notification provisions. The 1987 amendments also added a requirement that no person may subsequently sell or lease a vehicle that had been surrendered to a manufacturer pursuant to section 1793.2(d)(2) unless the original nonconformity "is corrected" and "clearly and conspicuously disclosed" and the manufacturer provides a oneyear warranty. (4MJN/913-914, 999.)<sup>5</sup>

Almost a decade later, to combat manufacturers' efforts to evade the disclosure obligations, the Legislature enacted section 1793.23, which requires manufacturers re-acquiring vehicles under 1793.2(d)(2) to brand them as "Lemon Law Buybacks," and imposes additional notification requirements to prospective buyers or lessees. (See 8MJN/2180–9MJN/2604.)

• The civil penalty provision for willful misconduct. The 1987 amendments preserved the Act's civil penalty provision for willful misconduct, which remains the same today: If the buyer establishes that the manufacturer's "failure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For brevity, we refer to the California Commercial Code as the "UCC," even though it technically is distinct from the Uniform Commercial Code

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This provision was originally codified at section 1793.2 (4MJN/913-914), but later moved to section 1793.22, subdivision (f)(1).

to comply was willful," the judgment may include "a civil penalty which shall not exceed two times the amount of actual damages." (§ 1794, subd. (c); see 3MJN/846; 4MJN/914.)

\* \* \*

As these provisions confirm, and as this Court has recently recognized, the Act places the onus *entirely* on manufacturers to promptly repair, replace, buy back and/or brand lemon vehicles: "The Act imposes several *affirmative obligations* on manufacturers in addition to the requirement that they comply with their own warranties. These obligations include maintaining 'sufficient service and repair facilities' (§ 1793.2, subd. (a)(1)(A)); commencing repairs 'within a reasonable time' (§ 1793.2, subd. (b)); completing repairs 'within 30 days' (*ibid*.); and 'promptly' replacing or providing restitution for those vehicles the manufacturer cannot repair after a reasonable number of attempts. . . ." (*Kirzhner v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 966, 984, italics added, citations omitted (*Kirzhner*).)

The Legislature fashioned the statutory remedy so that a manufacturer's affirmative obligation to buy back the vehicle arises as soon as reasonable attempts to fix the car fail. (See *Krotin v. Porsche Cars North America, Inc.* (1995) 38 Cal.App.4th 294, 302-303 (*Krotin*).) Buyers do not need to request replacement or restitution to trigger the manufacturer's buy-back obligation. Rather, a buyer's *only* obligation to obtain the statutory relief is to present the vehicle for repair. (See *ibid.*; *Martinez, supra*, 193 Cal.App.4th at p. 194.)

- B. Factual Background.
  - Niedermeier purchases a new Jeep for \$40,000, which Chrysler supposedly warrants against defects.

Lisa Niedermeier is a mother of four. (2RT/907.) In January 2011, she purchased a Jeep from Chrysler for approximately \$40,000, which was "a significant investment" for her family. (2RT/904-909, 915.) She chose the Jeep because Chrysler advertised and warranted the vehicle as "reliable and safe" and that its engine, transmission and powertrain components would operate properly for at least five years and 100,000 miles. (2RT/904-909, 1040-1041.)

> 2. Starting just a month after the purchase and continuing for four years, Niedermeier brings the Jeep to Chrysler sixteen times for repairs but Chrysler cannot repair it.

Only one month after purchasing the Jeep, Niedermeier had to bring the vehicle in for repairs. (2RT/910-911.) This would be the first of *sixteen* times in four years she sought warranted repairs; the repairs would cost over \$13,000 and put the Jeep out of commission for 75 days. (3RT/1510.)

The Jeep suffered from three separate, recurring systemic failures—the transmission, the engine, and the exhaust—any combination of which rendered the vehicle a lemon; indeed, these problems were extraordinary even among lemons. (3RT/12531254.) Without warning, the Jeep would jerk violently, make loud rattling noises, emit noxious gases, and heat up so much that Niedermeier could not set her feet on the floorboard. (2RT/911-912, 917-918, 922-923, 926-927; 3RT/1259-1260.) The Jeep struggled to perform even the most basic tasks—such as braking, accelerating, or turning through intersections. (2RT/912-913, 917-918, 947, 1086.)

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