#### No. S266034

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### LISA NIEDERMEIER,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

#### FCA US LLC,

Defendant and Appellant.

California Court of Appeal
Second Appellate District, Division One
No. B293960
Superior Court of Los Angeles County
Hon. Daniel S. Murphy, Judge
No. BC638010

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\*Thomas H. Dupree Jr. (pro hac vice)
Matt Gregory (pro hac vice)
GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP
1050 Connecticut Avenue NW
Washington, DC 20036
Telephone: (202) 955-8500
Facsimile: (202) 467-0539

tdupree@gibsondunn.com

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

Niedermeier relies primarily on three lower-court cases, none of which involved the question presented here. (See Opening Br. 34–39, 42–44 [citing Martinez, supra, 193 Cal.App.4th 187; Jiagbogu v. Mercedes Benz USA (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1235 (Jiagbogu); Lukather, supra, 181 Cal.App.4th 1041].) Each of these cases is inapposite.

a. In *Martinez*, the Court of Appeal held that a plaintiff need not "possess or own the vehicle" to sue under the Lemon Law. (*Martinez*, *supra*, 193 Cal.App.4th at p. 192.) The appeal was "limited to [that] question," so the court had no occasion to address the proper measure of the plaintiff's damages under Section 1794. (*Id.*) The court reasoned that a consumer who financed the purchase of her car might be unable "to continue paying for the

derelict vehicle, as well as any replacement vehicle," while a manufacturer dragged its feet in complying with the Act. (*Id.* at p. 195.) A contrary interpretation—that a buyer must keep making payments on a derelict vehicle to bring a claim—would have had a "chilling effect on the availability of the Act's remedies." (*Id.*)

Here, unlike in *Martinez*, FCA is not arguing that Niedermeier's resale of the Jeep forecloses her from seeking relief. Rather, the question presented in this case is simply how to calculate Niedermeier's damages in light of the fact that she has already recovered \$19,000 of the purchase price. *Martinez* does not address *that* issue. And measuring damages based on the consumer's actual economic loss will not have a chilling effect on the remedies afforded by Song-Beverly, because the consumer can still receive the rest of the money (plus civil penalties and attorney's fees) by bringing an action under Section 1794(b).

b. In Jiagbogu, the court held that a manufacturer was not entitled to an "equitable offset" for the buyer's use of a defective car after he requested that the manufacturer buy it back. (Jiagbogu, supra, 118 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1242, 1242–44.) Allowing that offset would have been inconsistent with the express statutory provision that limits the usage offset to the mileage driven before the car is presented for repairs. Not only was the manufacturer's position contrary to an express statutory term; it also rested on Civil Code "section 1692 regarding contract rescission and offsets" and "Commercial Code section 1103," neither of which is incorporated into the "measure of the buyer's damages" by Section

1794(b). (*Id.* at p. 1242.) The court was careful to clarify, however, that its holding was limited to "equitable offset[s]" for a buyer's use of a vehicle, noting that "[o]ther hypothetical situations," like "insurance subrogation, may well justify a defense to the buyer's claim." (*Id.* at p. 1244.)<sup>3</sup>

Here, unlike an "offset" for a buyer's use of a defective car, the question of how to calculate a buyer's damages when she resells the car is not specifically addressed in Section 1793.2(d). Thus, the negative implication from Section 1793.2(d)'s text is absent. Moreover, allowing the buyer to receive both the resale proceeds and the purchase price would be a double recovery similar to "insurance subrogation," the hypothetical situation that the court in Jiagbogu went out of its way to distinguish. (See Jiagbogu, supra, 118 Cal.App.4th at p. 1244.)

c. Lukather is even further afield. There, the court rejected an argument that a buyer should have mitigated damages by buying a new car or accepting the manufacturer's settlement offer rather than incurring expenses for a rental car. (Lukather, supra, 181 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1051–53.) Denying the buyer rental-car expenses would have "reward[ed] GM for its delay in refunding Lukather's money," and therefore would have been contrary to the Act's purpose. (Id. at p. 1053.) Here, excluding the resale proceeds from a buyer's damages would not pressure the buyer to accept an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In *Robbins v. Hyundai Motor Am.* ((C.D. Cal. Aug. 7, 2014), No. 8:14-cv-5, 2014 WL 4723505, at p. \*7–8), the defendant similarly sought an offset "for excess wear and tear" on the buyer's vehicle.

unreasonable settlement offer or reward a manufacturer for its delay. That is because, unlike denying a buyer rental-car expenses, here both the buyer and the manufacturer end up in the same economic position with or without the resale—the buyer either recovers the full purchase price from the manufacturer and returns the car, or resells the car to a third party and recovers the remainder of the purchase price from the manufacturer.

## 3. The Collateral Source Rule Does Not Apply Here.

Although Niedermeier failed to include this issue in her petition for review (see Cal. R. Ct. 8.516), her opening brief invokes the collateral source rule. (Opening Br. 61–63.) The rule provides that, in certain limited circumstances, a payment from "a source wholly independent of [a] tortfeasor" is not deducted from the damages that the plaintiff would otherwise collect. (Howell v. Hamilton Meats & Provisions, Inc. (2011) 52 Cal.4th 541, 551 (Howell) [quoting Helfend v. S. Cal. Rapid Transit Dist. (1970) 2 Cal.3d 1, 6 (*Helfend*)].) The rule typically applies when a plaintiff's loss was insured and she has recovered some or all of the loss from her insurance company. (See id.; Parker v. Alexander Marine Co. (9th Cir. 2017) 721 F.App'x 585, 587–88.) California courts have extended the collateral source rule to several narrow contexts where "the victim receives a gratuitous payment or benefit" or "the benefit or payment arises from some obligation" to compensate the plaintiff for her injury. (Smock v. California (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 883, 886–87.)

Here, the GMC dealer who gave Niedermeier a \$19,000 trade-in credit for the Jeep was not a collateral source providing gratuitous benefits, nor paying "compensation for [her] injuries" (Howell, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 551 [quotation marks omitted]) because of a pre-existing obligation to insure or indemnify. Rather, Niedermeier persuaded the dealer to pay her \$19,000 in exchange for the Jeep, as part of an arm's-length transaction to purchase a brand-new Yukon. Niedermeier's far-fetched collateral source theory would vitiate the entire body of Commercial Code law regarding the measure of damages discussed above, under which the buyer's recovery is reduced by the amount of a resale to a third party. It is unsurprising, therefore, that she fails to cite a single case where the collateral source rule was applied to a buyer's resale of defective goods, let alone in a Song-Beverly case.

Moreover, the policy reasons that have led courts to apply the collateral source rule in other contexts are absent here. The rule is motivated by "a policy judgment in favor of encouraging citizens to purchase and maintain insurance." (*Howell*, *supra*, 52 Cal.4th at pp. 346–47.) But that concern is not implicated here. Similarly, courts have applied the collateral source rule as a way of ensuring that the plaintiff is fully compensated when the governing statute does not allow the recovery of attorney's fees. (*Id.* at 349 [citing *Helfend*, *supra*, 2 Cal.3d at p. 12].) Here, too, that concern is absent, as Song-Beverly allows a plaintiff to recover her attorney's fees, often with a multiplier.

Niedermeier argues that this Court should craft a new collateral source rule for Song-Beverly actions where a manufacturer "willfully violate[s] the Act's buy-back obligations." (Opening Br. 62.) But the Legislature has already provided a specific punishment for willful violations—a civil penalty of up to two times a buyer's "actual damages." (Cal. Civ. Code § 1794(c).) Invoking a tortured application of the collateral source rule to layer on an additional, judicially-crafted penalty on top of the Legislature's specified punishment makes no sense.

#### 4. Niedermeier Received \$19,000 For The Jeep.

Niedermeier resists the evidence that her restitution award should be reduced by \$19,000—the amount of the trade-in credit she received from the GMC dealer. (Opening Br. 49.) But as the Court of Appeal pointed out, Niedermeier "testified that she sold the Jeep to the GMC dealer for \$19,000," and there is nothing wrong or unfair about holding her to the bargain she struck and reducing her award by the amount of money she admitted accepting in exchange for the Jeep. (Opn. 27.)

Niedermeier's argument that lemons have no value is irreconcilable with the undisputed evidence that the GMC dealer considered it to be worth \$19,000. It is also irreconcilable with evidence that FCA offered, but was excluded, that Niedermeier had previously listed the Jeep for sale on Facebook for \$25,000. (2RT952–53.)<sup>4</sup> Moreover, the rebranding and disclosure requirements discussed above reflect the Legislature's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> FCA was precluded from introducing this evidence at trial because the trial court had previously concluded that the parties should address Niedermeier's double recovery only in post-trial arguments. (See 2RT 952–53.)

understanding that lemons *will* be resold—which necessarily means that they have value. Finally, if lemons were valueless, they would all be returned to the manufacturer, and no trade-ins or third party resales would ever occur. Niedermeier's assertion that she had no choice but to sell the Jeep to pay for a new car (Opening Br. 24) contradicts her argument that the Jeep had no economic value.

Niedermeier complains that the \$19,000 credit she received from the GMC dealer was too *good* a deal, in that it exceeded the Jeep's true market value. (Opening Br. 49.) But the question here is not how much the Jeep might have been worth in the abstract, but how much of the original purchase price Niedermeier has already recovered through the resale.

Niedermeier suggests that, had she not resold the Jeep, FCA would have been obligated to pay off the outstanding principal on her auto loan *plus* the entire purchase price of her Jeep. (See Opening Br. 54.) Of course that is incorrect. The principal payments on a buyer's loan are already subsumed within the purchase price of a car, and therefore are already included in a buyer's restitution award as part of the "price paid or payable." (Cal. Civ. Code § 1793.2(d)(2)(B).)<sup>5</sup>

Niedermeier's closing argument made clear how the math worked. Her counsel explained that when Niedermeier purchased the Jeep, she made a \$4,000 down payment and became obligated to pay \$500 a month for the life of her auto loan (72 months), which led to a total purchase price of "39,799" that included both the money Niedermeier actually paid and all of the debt she incurred, including all of the debt that was still (Cont'd on next page)

Nor would it make any difference if, as Niedermeier speculates, the GMC dealer paid her an overly generous amount for the Jeep as part of a ploy to trick her into overpaying for a new Yukon. The issue here is how much FCA owes Niedermeier for the Jeep, not whether the GMC dealer gave her a good deal on the Yukon. Niedermeier's assertion that the price she paid for her new Yukon—\$80,000—was "inflated" (Opening Br. 49) also lacks any factual support. In fact, the website on which she relies contradicts her assertion that \$80,000 is an unthinkable price for a Yukon. (Opening Br. 25 n.6 [citing edmunds.com for the proposition that "the retail price for a 2021 Yukon is as low as \$50,700"].) It says that a buyer should expect to pay "\$81,996" for the "Most Popular" model of a new Yukon (the Denali model), even without accounting 2021 extra add-ons. (See Yukon, Edmunds.com, https://www.edmunds.com/gmc/yukon/ [last visited Aug. 2, 2021] [choose "Select a trim" to see suggested pricing for different models].)

Finally, in a footnote, Niedermeier points to a Department of Consumer Affairs letter responding to a question about the "negative equity" (i.e., the balance remaining on a loan that exceeds a trade-in's current value) that dealers sometimes roll over in a way that increases the cost of a replacement vehicle. (Opening Br. 49 n.10.) The letter has nothing to do with the measure of Song-Beverly damages in this case, which does not involve

outstanding when she resold the Jeep. (2RT909, 4RT1847–48; AA39–41.) The jury accepted that argument, and calculated the purchase price for the Jeep as \$39,799. (AA70.)

negative equity, and the letter does not address whether a buyer's damages include money that the buyer has already recovered by reselling a defective car. (See *People ex rel. Lundgren v. Superior Court* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 294, 308–11 (*Lundgren*) [no deference warranted to ex parte letter where the letter did not take a "definitive position" on the specific question at issue in the case].) If anything, the letter supports the Court of Appeal's interpretation of the statute in that the Department recognized that "it is helpful to look to the [Commercial] Code"—and Section 2711 in particular—to "illuminate the meaning of the phrase 'actual price paid or payable by the buyer' in CC § 1793.2(d)(2)(B)." (9 Niedermeier MJN 2611–12.)

# II. For Purposes Of Calculating The Maximum Civil Penalty, "Actual Damages" Do Not Include Money A Buyer Received By Reselling A Lemon.

Niedermeier's argument that the Court of Appeal should have calculated civil penalties first, and then subtracted the amount she received from the resale, is both waived and wrong. The Court of Appeal held that Niedermeier waived this argument when she conceded the issue in her brief, and the court therefore did not address it. And Niedermeier's argument is mistaken in any event.

# A. Niedermeier Waived This Issue In The Court Of Appeal.

To reverse the Court of Appeal's ruling on the civil penalty, this Court would first have to overturn the Court of Appeal's holding that Niedermeier waived the argument. As the Court of Appeal explained, Niedermeier conceded "that, to the extent defendant is entitled to reduce the damages it owes by the value of her trade-in, the civil penalty cannot exceed twice the reduced damages." (Opn. 27.) Niedermeier did *not* argue that the damages reduction should have no impact on the civil penalty. "Given plaintiff's concession," the Court of Appeal explained, "we express no opinion whether the civil penalty cap under Section 1794, subdivision (c) should be calculated before or after reducing plaintiff's damages to account for a trade-in or resale." (Opn. 28 n.8.)

This Court "normally do[es] not consider any issue that could have been but was not timely raised in the briefs filed in the Court of Appeal," (Flannery v. Prentice (2001) 26 Cal.4th 572, 591 (Flannery); Cal. Rule of Court 8.500, subd. (c)(1).), and there is no reason to do so here. That is especially so because Niedermeier not only failed to raise the new argument she makes in this Court, she affirmatively encouraged the Court of Appeal to reduce her civil penalty award to "section 1794's damages cap" if it reduced her damages award. (Opening Br. 81.) That argument is the opposite of the argument she now makes in this Court—that the award should not be reduced to the damages cap because the damages cap should have been higher.

Niedermeier makes no meaningful attempt to argue that the Court of Appeal's holding that she conceded this issue should be reversed. (Opening Br. 63–70.) Instead, the only mention of the concession in her brief is in the facts section. (*Id.* at pp. 29–30.) There, she includes a conclusory characterization of the Court of

Appeal's holding as "erroneous," and quotes from her petition for rehearing, which in turn relied on an excerpted snippet from oral argument. (*Id.*) But her attorney's passing reference to "tak[ing] it at the very end" (id. at 30) did not preserve the issue because "point[s] made for the first time at oral argument, ... will be deemed waived." (People v. Pena (2004) 32 Cal.4th 389, 403 [quotation marks omitted]; Flannery, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 591 [issue must be raised "in the briefs filed in the Court of Appeal" to be preserved].) Moreover, the excerpted snippet—that a damages reduction should occur "at the very end" (Opening Br. 30)—does not say anything about civil penalties and is not even the argument she advances in her opening brief to this Court. In fact, to FCA's knowledge no party had made this argument to any court in any case prior to Niedermeier's filing her opening brief in this Court. This Court should follow its usual practice and decline to consider as a matter of first impression an argument that was waived below.

## B. Money That A Buyer Recovered Through A Resale Is Not "Actual Damages."

Niedermeier's new argument is wrong in any event. The \$19,000 she recovered by reselling the Jeep does not constitute "actual damages" and therefore cannot be used to artificially increase the amount of the maximum civil penalty.

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